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1.

Sexual Relations With Widowed Sisters-~In-~Law

~ Sexual relations with the widowed wives of elder brothers seem to hav:
been a-common practice among many communities in the hill regions of Nepal.
It is interesting that even high-caste Upadhyaya Brahmans and Chhetris
followed this practice. In an earlisr issue (Year 2, No. 12, Dacember 1,970,

PP. 277-28Y4) we have discussed this custom among members of the Jaisi Brahmun
~ community. ‘

In Dullu-Dailekh, according to an official ordsr issued on Aswin Sudi L,
1879 (September 18213 in the name of "people helongirg to tle fow castss
and thirty-six sub-castes (Char Varna Chhattes Jat)" stated that sexual
relations with the widowad wives of elder brothers did not traditionally
constitute a punishable offense in that region,1

Regulations promulgated for Doti district on Ashadh Sudi, 1886 (July 1&0%)
racognized this custom amonyz the Khasiya commmnity subject to the condition
that the younger brother should take his widowed sister-in-law as his wife
only with the consent of the latter'!s paternal relatives and on payment ot
ks 12 to them. If such relatives did not give their consent and preforcod

to take the woman-back, they were requered to pay the sams amount to the
younger brother 2 ,

This custom was prevalent among the Majhl community also 3

The following regulations were promulgated by 'ths government of Nepal
for country-wide enforcement on Ashadh Sudi 7,.1893 (July 1836) .4 They sha
liow widely prevalent this custaom was in Nepal at that time:

From King Rajendra, ‘

To people of the four castes and thirty—six sub-castes throughout
our kingdom.

1. Regmi Research Collections, Vol. L3, P. 359.
2, Ibid, P. 635,

3. Rogni Research Collections, Vol. 38, P, S51.

L. Chittaranjan Nepali, General Bhimsen Thapa Ra Tatkalin Nepal (Goneral

Bhimsen Thapa and Contemporary Nepal), PF. 203; Regml Rescarch Collections,
Vol. L3, PP. 583-585,

Contd,..
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B

It appears that sexual intercourse with the married wife of oneés own
elder brother -is a great sin. What has been done in the past has been don
Since this is a ‘Jungly country, it is necessary to make arrangements rela’
to caste matters. Henceforth,cno person, except among the Kiratis, ILimbus,
Lapches and Jumlis for the time being, shall knowingly commit sexual 1nte
course with the married wife of his own elder brother. Any person who & o

not comply with this restriction shall be punished as follows according t
his caste:-

Casta ' ' " Pupishuent
-Upadhyaya Brahman, Jaisi ‘Brahman cee Deprivation of caste, shav
and Sanyasi o of the head in patches and
i e exile.

Kshatriya cates related to the _
royal family . Deprivation of caste and
' exile.

Other Kshatriya, castes Rajputs, = -
Khas, Vaishya, lMagar, CGurun;; and Ghale ... Cutting of gunital
» [ L

Newar and Studra c:stes 56 Confiscation of property

Damai, Sunar, Kami, Sarki, Gaine,

Hurke, Kadara and other castes

water touched by whom cannot be

taken, and Balami, Majhi, Danuwar,

Sumuwar Murmi, Bhote, Chepang,

Pahari, Darai, Kumhal, Baramu, etc vee Enslavement

These regulations were repealed on Chaitra Sudi 6 1901 (March 1845),
howevers,

FH KA
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King Girban's Letter To Kaji Ranjor Thapa®

Introduction Ty

King Girban was 17 years of age in the beginning of 1871 Vikrama
(181L A.D.)n The Kingdom of Nepal at that time extendsd from the Sutle]
to the Tista in the Himalayas. The,affairs of the administration were
in the hands of General Bhimsen Thapa. Kajl Amar Simha Thapa had bsen
u‘puxed to defend the district of Simla in the western part of the kincdem,
He was staying at Bngal (Axi), while his son, Kaji Ranjor Thapa, was
staying at Nahan, capital of Sirmur. At that time, the British in India
vere making efforts to annex the hill areas of the Kingdom of Nepal. They
were- therefore creatingz border disputes with a view to inciting a war.
Major Bradshaw, who had been deputed to demarcate the boundaries, behaved
rudsly with the Nepali representatives, Rajguru Ranganath Pundit and Kaji
Dglabhajan Panden War appeared imminentn

The following letter was sent by King Girban to Kaji Ranjor Thapa in
reply to a letter repserting the death of Capt, Chandra Bir Kunwar, who was
the hushband ef Kaji Ranjor Thapa's sister.

From King Girban Yuddha Bikram

(Rcyal Titles)

Blessings to Kaji Ranjor Thapa. All is well here. We want the sams theen.
Tho news here is 'good. Your letter dated Baisakh Sudi 7 reached us on Jestivi
Sudi 3. We have noted the contents thereofn

You have reported that Capt, Chandra Bir Kwwar is dead, and that
ong of his two sonsnwill ba deputed to build the fort of Nalapdnl while
»he other will stay at the capital. :

One is born in this world in order to undergo the fruits of actions
performed in past life. After the fruits ef such actions are undcrgone,
the soul is separated from the body. It then departs to another world to
undergo the fruits of actions performed by it during its residence in the
body. This is the way of the world.

XBabu Ram Acharya, Aitihasik Patra (Sankhya 5), (Historical Letter, No. 5),

Purusartha, (Nepali, monthly,npublished from Kathmandu), Year 1, No. 3,
Falgun 2006 (February—March 1950), 113-115 PP.

Contd...
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Capt. Chandra Bir. Kunwar was our servant. Along with you, he was
attending wholeheartedly to our affairs, giving up food and drink. He
was lucky enough to renounce!' his body on the banks of the Ganga.

We have still his“sons in our midst. They will be able to learn

enough to fulfill our orde¥s. It is good that Balabhadra Kunwar lo bullilnb
a iort at Nalapani,. ; |

The doon (valley) aroa attracts everybady. It appears to be tha hoart
ofathe kingdom. If a strong fort is built at Nalapani, everything can be
properly attended too., When this was reperted to us, we issued orders
directing that a fort should be built there!. But the fort is not yot ready

because 2 or 3 persons were given charge of the work and no reminders wsie
sent,

The fort should not be built in an ordinary manner. Perhaps Balabhadr:
Kunwar dces not lnow everything about a fort. Whenaver you have tiwme, po
there and direct how it stould be built. Go there freguontly to find out 1w
much has been completed ard how much is still 1&ft, and thus expedite the
work. The fort can bg built in a proper manner if you do*sol,

You know the position of the Sikhs and the Kabils. Matters relatiis
to the boundary in that arcva bave bexn written to your fathor and you teu
will com: to kaow of them accordingly. If dospite your Lust poosibila
efforts the dispute grows and stiff conflict takes pluce,we do not know
that may happon there. If tha boundary dispute is net settlod, Kaji Asbore
Simha Thapa, who is staying at Bagal, will attend to ths wmatter. You arc
staying at Nahan, and there is nothing ©o worry about in that arca. If
any dispute arises, fighting will certainly take place in the doon area.
We had directcd previously also that in view ef this pos'sibility a raeeiment
of troops should always be stationed there. You may have sent reminders
to insure that this directivs was ‘implemented. In case soldiers ifrom thi:s
regiment have been s2nt anywhere for any purpose, make arrangements to
insure that the regiment statloncd in the doon arsa remains intact. Find
out infarmation about that area and send it to wus.

_ Sunday, Jestha Sudi k4, 1871 Bikrama (May 181L).

Commcnt

This letter has beun written on behalf of King Girban. But it is
_clear that it contains the ideas of Bhimsen Thapa.-The spaculation that
tho first attack of the British would be' in the doon area, that is, Dehradu
later proved to be correct.

Contdae..
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Chandra Bir Kwwar had boen appointed as Subkba of Pyuthan in 18L4L
or 18L5 Vikrama. He lived continuously in the hill region since then.
Balabhadra Kunwar thus appears to have bec¢n korn in the western hill
region., When he was first appointed in government service, he was givea
the responsihility of constructing forts. On the auspicious day of Vijava
Dashmi in 1871 Vilrama (October 1814), Bhimsen Thapa had sent Kaji Rewant
‘Kana Kunwar from Kathmandu to defend this fort. But British troaps besiegcd
it during the previous night, The skill with which Balabhadrsz Kunwar resistord
the cnemy on this occasion has been highly praised even by the enemy.

i

i
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Reign And~Abdicztion Of King Rana Bahadur Shaht

By
Chittaranjan Nepali.

On Baisakh 1851 Vikrama (4pril 1794) Rana Buhadur Shah diswisscd
* Regent Bahadur Shah and assumed direct control of tho reins of administra-
tion. Ranodyot Shah and Sher Bahadur Shah were then appointed Chief Chauta-
riya and Chautariya rgspuctivelyt The Chief Chautariya occupied a leadins
position in the administration at that time. He was usually appointed frow
among the close rclatives of the king. He dischaged the same tfunctions as
a Prime Minister does wider a cabinet system. Subordinatu to the Chief
Chautariya was a Council of 4 Kajis, which assisted him in running the
aduinistration of the State. Apart from the memburs of the Council of
Kajis, therc were other Kajis, who ranked belrw them in order of precedencs,
Ths Junior Kajis were in charge of one department each.

Although the main duty of these 4 Kalis was to assist Chautariya in
the discharge of his state function, they wielded considerable influence
on the administration. Most well-known and influential among the four
mcmbers of the Council at that time was Damodar Pands, But according to
the order of precedence, Kirtiman Basnet occupied the topmost position.
Till then the convention of entrusting all powers to a single person and
dusignating him as Mukhtiyar (that is, Prime Minister) had not cuerged.
Instead, the functions of Primo Minister af the present days were pertorucd
" by the Chief Chautariya, who was selected from among the brotuers or wons
of the king other than the heir-apparent. The institution of Mukhtiyvar
ovolved in Nepal only after Rana Bahadur Shah returned to. Nepal from
Varanasi to resume his reign after living as a Swami. It was later convarted
into the Prime Ministership. The view expressed by soms historians that
the post of Prime Minister and the modern system of administration origi-

nated in HNcpal with the cmergonce of Damodar Pende doos not anpear to be
correctt2’

1. Chittaranjan Nepali, Shri S Rsna Bahadur Shah (King Rana Bahadur Shah),
Kathmandu: Mary Ranhandqu, 2020 (1968), Chapter II: "Shasan Sanchslan

Evam Rajyatyag (Samvat 1851-1855)," (Reign and Abdication; 1794-1798),
22-33 PP. .

2. Balachandra Sharma, Nepal Ko Aitihasik Ruprekhal

Contde..
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*Rana Bahadur Shah, even after assuming contrel of the adnlinisﬁi'atioxx, i
could net rule the country peacefully. fer leng. After only a few years, a
struggle began between him and his_ nobles' The swift and bold steps ini-
tiated vy Rana Bahadur Shah after assuming power to break orthodex and
superstitieus practices faced stiff oppositien from the then conservative
society.' The nobles ®egan to exploit this soclal epposition toc the:king
for 'attaining their ewn political emds. This led to a struggle between
the king and the nobility. It'!assumed such serious proportions that ulti-
mately the king had to abdicate and reneuncoe warldly life.

The main cause of the conservatives' reyelt against the youthful
king was his marriage to Kantiwati, ‘the daughter of a Brahman. Rana
‘Bahadur Shah was fir'st married to Rajeshwari Devi in 18L6 Vikrama (17‘39
A.D.)V Tho first gusen had no offspring, Rana Bahadur Shah's second’ quash
was named Suvarnaprabha, who gave birth to a son named Ranodyot Shah.
Ranodyot Shah, housver, was not declared the heir to the thronet BGut ho
was appointed as Chief Chautariya when Girvanyuddha Bikram Shah ascended
the threne!, He romained in this post threughout his life. Historians are
not unanlmous about Queen Suvarnaprabha, Some say that she was the warricd
queen of Rana Bahadur, but that her son was not declarcd the heir to the
throne because she came of Kshetriya family, Accerding to another historiun,
Ranodyot Shah was not declared the heir to the throne becauss his wother
was only a concubine.3"}lomver, these conflicting opinions h:ve hsen set
at rest by the inscription on a big bell installed by Rana.Bahadur Shah

at the Hanuman-Dhoka palace in Kathmandu, which refers to Suvarnaprabha
25 "Bhogya Rani." (Concubine).

Kantiwati wgs the third woman whom Rana Bahadur Shah had married.
She was the dauvghter of a Brahman belonging to the Mishra caste. Rana
Bahadur's marriage to Kantiwati was the result of a romance. It was frow
this Brahman woman that a son was born to Rana Bahadur Shah on Sunduy,

Ashwin 12, 1854 (October 27, 179L)% The child was named Girvanyuddha Dirc
Bikram Shah. He was proclaimed the heir' to the throne.

Some historians have concocted the stery that Girvanyuddha Likram
Shah was nat the son of Kantiwati, but was actually the son of a Chautariy:.
According to them, the son of a Chdutaiiy&. had been sscretly liftud by a o
and substituted for that of Kantiwati.4 However, the historian who have
made thls claim have not produced any evidence to supp-ort it. Instead they

3. Hamilton, An Account Of The Kingdom Of Nep_a_l, P. 20.°

v L. (1) Kashi'Prasad Shrivasti, Nepal Ki Kahani, P. 384

'~

(2) Ramji Upadhyaya, Nepal Ko Aitihasik Digdarshan, P. 181.

COIILQ,.A,.'_M 50
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have admitted that it:-is.bssed on hearsay. It ‘appears that’those who
could ot appreciate the revotutionary and prdgressive ideas .of the
youthful King Rana Babadur-Shah have c~ncocted this story.' &n a copper
1nscr1ptiﬂn he issuedswhile dgbdicating the throre! in faver of Girvanyuddha
Bikram Shah,. Rana.Bahadur Shah himself described the latter.as the son )
of his. youngest queen, V:ntiwati. Moreover, inshis book Satkarma Ratn-walil”
King Girvanyuddha Bikram Shah has described himself as thg son of Kantiw.ti.
This shows that therstory s completely baseloss.

Hana Bahadur Shab's marriage to the daughter of a Brahman was regarued
as intolerakle by the:orthodox-minded scciety at the time bucause it was
a violation of the prevalont sacial as well as of religious customs. The
union between a Kshetriya and 4 .Brahman girl was in itself an. immoral
thing in the eyes of! the society at that time. When the' child born frow
the same Brahmin girl was proclaimed as the heir to the throns, it was
Dbut natural that the conservatives should have felt all the more infuriated.
However, nobody had dared voice their opposition to the king. They morely
circulated rumors that the king had gone made. They started the propaganda
dopicting the anti-traditional steps of the king as the result of his
madness and of his~blind léwidness. The propaganda had gained currency to
such an extent that for a hundred yoars Rana Bahadur Shah continued to be

labelled as insane and hlS meaSure° were 4depicted siwply as an outcome of
s madngss.

But a careful study of every move of Rana Bahadur Shah would clearly
reveal that it did not even have the trace of madness or blind pruricnce.
This is also proved by the fact that in the area around tlie temple of
. Jagannath which he constructed in Falgun 1853 (March 1797) in southem
Kathmandu alcng with the. Bhairavi-Chakra, he sought to abolish all caste
barriers as at the tomple of Jurannath Puri in Indlaa The words inscribed
on the bhalravi-Chakra installed.at the temple ara as follows:"People
belonging to all castes are Xike Brahmans when initiated with the Bhairavit
Chakral " This inscription, as also his courage in declaring as his heir bi:
son by the brahman girl Kantiwati pvoves his opposition to caste discriwi-
nation. It was a different matier if the contemporary socioety did not
approve of his actiorns.

The anti-traditional steps irni<ia*ed by King Rana Buzhadur Shah weie
opposed in differcnt ways. Brahman astrologers predicted that the "immoral
relationship” betvesn the king and Keritiwati would not last long and that
egither the lddng or the quucn would die soon.® At the same time, they spread
the rumor that Girvanyuddha Bir Bilcram Shah woull die of small-pox. The
nobles then started engaging thcmcelves in political maneuvers as well as
in exercising pressure on the king to &bdicate.

5¢ Itihas Prakash, Part I, P. 63.

Py _ -
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Ki.ng Rana Bahadur Shah was confronted with a serious crisis when
oppogitd.on to him momnted on all sides. He had no special adviser to
‘reasswre ard comfort him, Bhimsen Thapa ‘had not yet started his pelitical
career, nor was he present in Kathmandu during this crisis. He was then
‘8taying in the eastern hills. Ranganath, the Chief Royal ‘Priest, who
.later emerged.as Rana Bahadur Shah's supporter, was also not in Kathmandu
at“that time. He had gone ta Varanasi to meet his father, who had-heen
‘expelled by Bahadur Shah.It was really difficult for Rana Bahadur Shah to
-face the crisis urfler these circumstances. Naturally, Rana Bahadur Shah
-even began to douht whether Crown Prince Girvanyuddha Bikram would be able
“to ascend the throne after his death in case the crisis prolongsd. Hencs
he thought it proper to enthrone his son while he was stlll alive, The few
supporters he had algo adviged him to abdicate,?

- Accordingly,, Rana Bahadur Shah decided to abdicate in favor of
‘Girvanyuddha Bir Bikram, Wwho was the hardly 18 months old. He then asked
fhe ruler of Palpa, Prithvipal Sen, who was the most powsrful awong the
Tulers of principalities, to put the Rajatilak (auspicious mark to be
‘affixed on the forehead of the king on his coronation). Rana Bahadur

Shah 4id so in order that his adversaries might not be in a rositisn to
dispute the legality of the enthrormert of his son, and no-principality
too: might object to it whqn he retired fram the scens. Palpa was the
principality with which Bahadur Shah had established matpimonial relations.
Thus Rana Bahadur Shah's sucgess in having :Girvanyuddha crowned by the
ruler of Palpa represenbed. a diplomatic tactic.

By persuading the ruler of Palpa to put the Rajaulalc Rana Bahadur
Shah morally obliged him to recognize Girwanyuddha Bikram Shah as king.
" Rana Bahadur Shah also succeeded in compelling other nobles in Kathmandu
- to sign a document on Magh Sudi 15, 1855 (January 1799) pledging themselves
to remain loyal to King Girvanyuddba Bikram Shah,’

Cha\rtariya Sher Bahadur Shah, Kaji Damodar Pande and all other
Chaxrbar:lyas, Kajis’and Sardars, as well as military officers, signed t&m
ledge.. Aunng the noblas s only Rajguru GajaraJ Mishra did not sign it/

7. Hamilton, op. cit,, P, 251,

8. Ttihas Prakash, Part I, P. 21.
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. After securing this pledge of lnyalty to King Girvanyuddha Bikram
Shah Rana Bahadur Shah abdicated by means of ‘a preclamation issuwed on
Falgun 2, 1855 (B.S.) (Fabruary 13, 1798) and renounced worldly life. 3
The proclamation indicated who should. function as Regent_ and also explaini
the functions of the administratien and the duties of employees at the ro
palace. It authorized the Junior queen to act as Regent antil Girvgmyuddha
Biloram Shah attained matm'ity. _ o
. ... :

Some historians have claimed that all nohles had agreed to recognize
Girvanyuddha Bikraw as their king even though h& was born of Kantiwati, so
with the desire of getting themselves rid of an insane (?) ‘kingJ Some othe1
historians have put forward this claim in an exaggerated form, describing
the abdication of Rana Bahadur Shah as the "victory of the people."l0 It
would even be no exaggeration to say that by distorting historical facts
in this manner these historians have tried to undermine/ the. bonds tradi-
tionally exdisting between the king and the people in Népal.

The skillful arrangements made by King Rana Bahadur Shah before
abdicating in favor of Girvanyuddha Bikram Shah and the methodical and
systematic steps initiated by him against social traditionalism shaw
*that he can by no stretch of the imagination be regarded as half-wmad.
That ha could persuade the entire nodles to sign a document plsdging
themselves tm .remain loyal to Kipg Girvanyuddha Bikram and issue wide-

ranging instructions in regard to the administration through a proclamatiorﬂ
fukly reveals his sta.tesmanstup.

For some historians to interpret this event as the “triumpbh of the
people 's power over the govermnment™, is not only a gross exaggeration,
but alse ridiculous.’ In the first place, the significance of this event
should be assessed 'in the light of the prevailling circumstances, not frou
the viewpeint of modern political thinldng. Moresver, it is difficult to
imagine that there existed any organized popular force during those days.
If . even the "nutiny" that occurred 50 years later against foreign domina-
tion in Indla was not an organized one, the popular force in Nepal could
hardly be organized at that time. The claim that there existed any popular
force in Nepal originated mainly from British sources. Hence there is amplu
roam to douht the truth of the claim made by British sources who have never

ahown themselves impartisl in their assessment of Rana Bahadur Shah and
his measures, _

9. (1) Balachandra Shama, Nepal Ko Aitihasik. Ruprekha P, 2hh

(2) Surya Bikram Cnrawali, Amas Sinqh Thapa, P, 15.

10. Kashi Prasad Shrivastav, Nepal Ki Kahani, P. 38,
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on July 2L, 1837, in accordance with the instructions of Brian H.
Hodgsan, Dr A. Campbell Acting Assistant at the British Residency in
Kathmandu, sent a ‘detailed repoxt on the death ef Bhimsen Thapa to the
British gevernment. The repart cast seme aspersions on Rana Bahadur Shah,
who had heen assassinated 37 years earlier. Accordingito it, "having bqen
tormented by the death of the queen (i.e. Kantiwati) and wnder the presswe
af.the public oppositieri, Rana Bahadur Shah avdicated in favor ef his son
in 1802.m1 Slightly altering this statement, the author of Nepal Ki'Kahani
has said“that this event took place in 1800: 12 ' &

"As a matter »f fact, Rana Bahadur Shah- abdicated in favor of his
son in 1855 Vikrama (1798 A.D.) and Queen Kantiwati died a year later,
in 1799. Hence there is no shred of truth in the claim that King Rana
Bahadur Shah abdicated because his heart was brgken by the death ef his
queen and yielding t@ the pressure or erganized strength of the peenle
‘Who were epposed to his "lunatic acts.”

i

On the contrary, Swami I\n.rvananda as Rana Bahadus Shah called himself
after his abdication, enjoyed considerable public support. This 1is evident
from the preparations made by him from Patan for a ‘cenflict against the
nobles ef Kattmandu and the fecar this eveked among such brave nobles as
Damodar Pands. Of cowrse, thare were people who saw in his marriage with
Kantiwati evidence of ‘his atheism,lunacy or prurience. But there was ne.
dearth of persons ready to join him in the event ef 3 civil war, The Nepali
people have boen follewing the Chakra cult and establishing all kinds of'
social intercourse with their teachers_ or priests covertly, if not overtly.
It wgs therefore not surprising that they should have supported the cause
of Rana Bahadur Shah, Another reason why it was natural for him to get.
public support was that he had "to participate actively in politics even
after rencuncing worldly 1life in order to insure that those nobles who
had not signed the pledge of loyalty did not engage themselves in anti-

national activities in the name of the child King Girvan with Br1ti°
suppert. |

Instead of concocting such a stcr'y, these historians should have ween
able to write that Rana Bahadur Shah had been campelled to abdicate as a
result of the conspiracy of some pewerful, nobles who wanted to keep their

position secure with the help of foreign elements, that he achieved hs

aim of  safeguarding the sovereignty sf Nepal with the support of his ewn

peopls, even though in the process he had to become a martyr, and that all

those relying on palace intrigues were ultimately defeated by the combined
strength of the king and the people.

11. H. Huter, Life of Hodgson, P, $1.
y Life of Hodgson,
12, Kashi Prasad Shrivastav, op. cit., P. 38.

.Contda.s
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The author of “Nepal i Kahani has also claimed that Rana Bahadur Shah .
had murdered Ranoddip Shah (Ranodyet Shah), son of his elder queen, dut
of anger over the death of his queen. This clainm too ig false. It is
another attempt to defame ‘Rana Bahadur Shah in keeping with the pattern
set®up Wy the BritisW’for hundreds of years. . The truth is that Ranodyet

‘Shah was alive during anq even after the assassination of Rana dahadur
Shah,

: After aWdicating in favor of dirvanyuddha Bii"cr;amﬁhah; Rana Bahadur
Shah renounced worldly 1life and accempanied by his two queens, meved to

- Devapatan., He changed his name to Nirvanananda and adopted the followinpg
tditles: - _ s :

e o : >
¢« Swastishri Samasta Yogakalakovid Yogindrsgana Chintaniya Sachchica-
nanda Swarup Paripuraa Parabrahmanuchitanatadekatadhigamaikalasa Samsarika
Sakalavishayavinimukta Manasetyadivividhalokottara Gunagramabhirama Shri
Mahaxdravananda. Swamn‘lam Sadasatkarmashalinam,. :

-

r I ~

"

~ He was addressed as "Swami" or Swami Maharaj."
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Thc Fall Of Bhimsen Thapa And The Rise Of Jung Bahadur Rana

Baburam Acharya writes: -5‘

General Bhimsen Thapa, wbo had become all powerful in Nepal, fell
from powar because of the ambitions of his:brother, Genoral Ranahir Sinch
Thapa, the autocratic attitudc of his nephew, General Mathbar Singh Thapa,
and the intriguss of the British envoy, Brian H. Hodgson. However, King
Rajendra Bikram Shah proved himself incapable of running the administration.

As a result, his o’ queens, Samrajyalaxmi Devi and Ra,)yalaml Devi, startcd
“interferring in the administration.

. The Senior Queen, Samrajyalaxmi Devi, has been bring to been about
the downfall of Bhimsen Thapa since 1837. Bhimsen Thapa was accused of
having poisoned her infant son, Devendra Bikram Shah. He was therefore
. arrested and put in irons. The physician who had treatéd the infant Prince,

Bhajuman Baidya, was also arrested. Soon afterwards, Bhimsen Thapa's rola-
. tives were also arrested, 'along with the royal physicians, Sardar Ekadev
; Upadhyaya and Ekasurya Upadhyaya. Their property was confiscated. Bhajuman
Baimra confessed under tortur¢ that -he had treated the infant Prince with
medicine given by Ekadev Baidya. But Ekadev Baidya did not plead guilty
even when his cheeks wero burnt with red-hot iron, his eyes taken out, his
sidn flayed and salt and popper applied thereon, Bhajuman Baidya was impali-d.

Both Ekadev Upadhyawa and Ekas\xrya Upadhyaya were then sentenced to rigorous
merisonment.

o King Rajendra wanted to appoint Kaji Dalabhanjén as Mukhtiyar on the
saxmc day that Bhimsen Thapa had been arrested. Howsver, Rajajung Pande
became Mukhtiyar through the influence of Queen Samrajyalaxmi Devi. He

began to be called Diwan. A8 hc was the grandson of Kalupands, his family
was called Kala Pandes,: . l

However, Rana;jung Pandc did not command the support of the wajoritv.
Ho was therefore unable to control the Bhardars who supportcd t.he King.
He was therefore compelled to resign after only 3 months.

K.mg Raaendra then appointed Rajguru Ranganath Pandit as Mukhtiyar and
made him cowmander of a regiment. Dalabhanj)an Parde too was. given the comman.
of a regiment, The command of the rest of the army was given to Ranajung Pand

XBaburam Acharya, "Bhimsen Trapa Ko Patandekhi Juna Bahadur Rana Ko Utthan
Nabhayesamma Nau Varsha Ko Halchal." (Developments Daring The. Nine~Year
Period Between The Fall Of Bhimsen Thapa and The Emergency of Jung Bahadur

Rana), Ruprekha (¥opali, monthly): Year 3, No. 5, Aswin 2019 (September-
October 1952), 9-16 PP, ’
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During the previous year, Ranganath Pandit had becn entrusted with
the task of curtailing Jagir land assignments. The new schedulcs of Jagir
assignments had already been finalized. By reducing the emoluments of
- wilitary officers by 50%, Ranganath Pandit increased the rcvenue. But
tho proposal to reducg the emoluments of ordinary soldicrs also was aban-
doncd because of the predsurc of Ranajung Pande. The large Jagir holdings
assigned to members of the Thapa family were resumed.

In March 1838, the charges against Bhimsen Thapa were withdrawn. He
Wwas permitted to stay at Borlang in Gorkha. Ekadev Upadhyaya and Ekasurya
Upadhyaya also were released.

_ After the appointment of Rangzanath Pandit as Mukhtiyar, Qucen Samrajy-:-
laxmi Dcvi appointed Kulachandra Shah and Pushkar Shah as Chautariyas,

Dala Bahadur Pande (who belonged to the other branch of the Pande family
known as Gora Pande) was appointod-as Kaji. In the mean time, Guru Krishna-
ram Mishra too went over to the party of Queen Samrajyalaxmi Devi. Ranajune
Pandé developed contacts with military officers. Since the party had wecems
poworful in this manner, Qucen Smrajyalaxmi Devi made Ranajung Pandc Mukh- -
tiyar again in October 1838.

Aftor becoming Mukhtiyar, Ranajung Pande sent emissaries to Burma,
China, Lahore and Gwalior with letters from King Rajendra. He repaired
forts in the Mahabharat region, recruited an additional 7,000 troops and
accumulated stocks of food supplics and arms and ammunition, 8,000 troops
were koept ready in Kathmandu, rcady to march down to the Tarail whereever
nceessary. This led the British Resident, Brian H. Hodgson, to report to
his governmnt that Ranajung Pande was anti-British. Governor-General Lord

Auckland then mads a display of stre}igth by sending troops to the Nepal-
India border. '

: In an effort to pacify the Governor-General, King Rajendra recalled
Bhimsen.Thapa. Bhimsen Thapa accordingly came to Kathmandu in April 1839.
Lord Auckland then recallod his troops from the Nepal-India border.

; On the pretext of dece:w:mg the English Bhlmscn Thapa advised King
Rajendra that Chautar:.ya Fatte Jung Shah and Kaji Prasad Singh Rasnet
should each be given the command of the regimnt. 2 other regiments had
already been placed undsr other persons. As a result, the strength of ths

army under the command of Ranajung Pande dcclined. ThlS of course was tie
main objective of Bhimsen Thapa.

At this, Queen Samrajyalaxmi revived the charge against masen Thapa
that he had poisoned the infant Prince Devendra Bikram Shah. 2 more charges
ware addad, A forgea document was produced as evidence to substantiate

" Mecawemsm Thadhvava WorC ONCg MOYre.
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Earlier, after hls release, Ranabir Singh Thapa has become a Sanyasi
while Mathbar Singh Thapa had gone to India. However, Sher Jung and others
_vere 1mpr1.'soned. Thelr property was confiscated.

Meanwhila, it was reported to Queen Samrajyalaxmi Devi that the
youngest wifé ' of Bhimsen Thapa had abused her. She was accordingly arrested.
On July 20 183;, Bhimsen Thapa heard the rumor that his wife was going
to be disgraced «He therefore cut his throat with a Khukuri. Thereupon
King Rajendra and Queen Samrajyalexmi Devi ordered that he should be taken
“to th_e banks of the Bishnumati river and left there. Bhimsen Thapa died .
there after 9 days. His dead body was given to dogs and jackale. His wivas
were taken to the hills bare-footed and imprisoned there.

A per:l.dd of intranquillity, lawlessness and corruption followed the
suicide of Bhimsen Thapa. Unable to control the situation, Rana jung Pande

became insane in March 1840. In early April, 1849, Queen Samrajyalajmi
appomted Pushkar ‘Shah as Mukhtiyar.

Neither Ranaamg Pande nor Pushkar Shah was ant:n.—Bntish. Even then,
.they made ndcessary preparations to offer resistance in the event of

] aggression. ‘But Brian H., Hodgson desciibed them as a.rrti-Bnti sh in his’
reports to his government.

At this time, there was a dispute between the British and Nepal on
the question of the ownership of 18 villages in the Sahodara area of Parsa
district. In April 1840, Subba Bhakhatwar Khadka sent officials to collect
taxes at a fair being held in the disputed are. This confirmed the reports
of Brian H. Hodgson and Lord Auckland sent Colonel Oliver with troops to
that area, Pushkar Shah then transmitted the revenue collected theie to
Brian H. Hodgson and suggested that the border should be surveyed.

Maanwhlle , the army had not been given Jagir emolumerts for 2 years.
King Rajendra had decided to replace Jagir land assignments with cash
salaries., On June 21, 18L0, the soldiers raided the houses of 7 Bhardars,.
including Pushkar Shah and Ranganath Pandit, who had supported the idea of
abolishing their Jagir land assignments, and destroyed official documents.

Apprehending an unpleasant situation, King Rajendra and Queen Sanrajyz-
laxmi.invit»ed Brian H, Hodgson to the royal palace and kept him there throu-n

the night. The mext morming, they went to the Tundikhel and amounced that
Jagir land assignments would continue to be made as before.

1 H
Brian H. Hodgson, however, reported to his govemment that King -
Rajendra had made an anti-British speech before the soldiers. Lord Auckland
then wrote a letter to King Rajendra suggesting that he remove his ministers.
King Kajendra accordingly dismissed Pushkar Shah and appointed Fatte Jung
Shah as Mukhtiyar on November 1, 1840. This was what Brian H. Hodgson wanted.
N

~..Contde,.e"
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The dismissal of Pushkar Shah from the of-“ice of Mukhtiyar did not :
please Queen Samrajyalaxmi Devi. She therefore expres'sed her de'sire to nass
the rest of her life in Banaras. In the beginning -of 1842, she left for
Banaras. King Rajendra followed har in an attempt tor persuade her to return.
The East India Company Government did not permit her to enter Indian terri--
tory, Queen Samrajyalaxmi Devi then cams hack to Kathmandu and suggested
that King Rajendra becoms should ahdicate so that she might carry on the
administration as Regent with Prince Surendra Bikram Shah on the thronol
But.King Rajundra Bilkram did not agree to this proposal. Samrajyalaxni Dcvi
thern again-left for the Tarai. This time King Rajendra did not follow lor.
Samrajyalaxrd Devi later returned to Kathmandu because :she was suffering
from malaria. No physician was ready to treat her at thé risk of his litfe.
The result was that ghe -died in Octoher 18)2',

King Rajendra then began to dance to the tune of the Junior Quesn,
Rajyalaxmi Devi. Previously, Rajyalaxmi Devi had felt afraid that the eycs
of her infant sons, Ranendra Bikram and Birendra Bilaram, would be taken
out in case King~Rajendra abdicated in favor of Surendra.Bikram and handed
over the reins of adminisiration to Qusen Samrajyalaxmi Devi. Queen Rajya-
laxni- Devi now tried!to depose Rajendra, place Prince Ranendra BRilram on
tha throne, take out the eyes of Surendra Bikram and his brother, Upendra
Bikram, and take over the reins of administration herself. She decided to
implement her plan with the help of lathbar Singh Thapa. She' manlpul-ated
things in such a manner that King Rajendra and Fatte Jung Shah began to act
according to her advice. In .July 1842, Sher Jung Thapa and othaer Thlupas were
roloasod. The funeral rights of nniwmsen Thapd were pax'formad on a grand scale
August 1842, with an of" "~y made of Fusha grass. The Bhardar:;, includingr Fat
Jung Shah, extended coopsration in this move.

Two' brothers of Panajung Pande, Karabir Pande and Kapardar Kularaj
Pande, remainsd safe for two years because they had been employed as body-
guards of Crown Prince!Surendra, -Kularaj Pande started showing tdmself
anti~British,' He began to organize'umfcck battles hefore Swendra Bikrum
between the Ncpalls and tho British, in which the later were invariably
defeated.

18

~.In the meantime, oneg Kasinath Mal, who had been duclared guilty of
some offense, took asylum at tha Biritish Residency. Brian H. Hodgson refus:d
to. extradite him, King Rajendra Bikram personally wont to the Residency to
arrest Kasinath Mali, Swendra Bikram and Yular.j Pande too followed hinm.
However, Brian H. Hodgson intcrvensd. and King Rajendra had to go back
cmpty-handed. Kasinath Mal yas banded over to the Nc.pah author 1ties aftey
a few days, however. : : e o

.Brian H. HOdgbOD then $tartpd 1nst1gating Fatte Jung Shah agalnst
King Rajendra, Crown Prince Surend'"a and the Kala Pandes in an effort to

hie nlan has already becn approved oy ..ha Governor-Gereral, Lord Elle,nboroug
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. A y
.aensdng the designs of the English Resident, Sher Jung Thapa for mGfatdd=
a plan 10 destroy his enemies, the Kala Pandes. An anomymous letter was
sent to King Rajendra informing him that Fatte Jung Shah, Ranganath Pandit
and Prahhu Shah, acting in collaboration with Brian H. Hodgson, had decided
to share the kingdom among themselves. Prabhu Shah was the father of Queen
Rajyalaxmi. King Rajendra, acting upon this anonymous letter, arrested
Karabir Pande and Kalaraj Pandz and put them in irons! The property of these
two persons, as well as of Ranajung Pande, who had gone mad was confiscated.
However, Kaji Ranadal Pande, another brother of Ranajung Pande, was allowed
to remain in office in Palpa for a few months more.

_i‘-\'.t the time when Fatte Jung Shah was Mukhtiyar, King Rajcndra tried
to win over Crown Prince Surendra Bikram hy conferring on him the title
of Maharajadhiraj. However, Prince Surendra began to indulge in despotic
and tyrannical activitiels. After the Kala Pandes had been arrested, Fatte
Jung Shah drafted a petition and led a delegation of nobles and efficers
to King Rajendra demanding that the administrative authority should te
Yanded over to Queen Rajyalaiui. Finding no way out, King Rajendra compliod
With this demand in the beginning of Janvary 18L3. Queen Rajyalaxi then
invited Mathbar Singh Thapa to come hack to Nepal. Mathbar Singh Thapa
left $imla on his way to Nepal, However, he stopped at Gorakhpur to study
the situation. By that time, his sister's son, Jung Bahadur Kunwar, had
already weaome a Kaji. Quecn Rajyalaxmi sent Jung Bahadur Kumwar to Gorakhpur
Lo persuade Mathbar Singh Thapa to‘return. Mathbar Singh Thapa accordingly
came to Kattmandu in ths middle of April 18L3.

. After arriving in Katilmandu, Mathbar Singh Thapa stayed at a public
rest-house, declaring that he would not enter into his residence wntil his
family was cleared off the charges that had been framed against it. In
Jl,lly 18!*3, thﬁrafom, the poison case was discussed again at the Council
or Bhardars in the presence of King Rajemdra and Queen Rajyalaxmi'. The
Thapas were declared innocent and their confiscatz2d propertty was restored.
The case was proved to have boen concocted by the Kala Pandes. Althouzh
the sons of Damodar Pande wers opposed to violence and had not put any-
body to death, Mathwar Singh Thapa treated them with great cruelty. He
boisonod the insane Ranajung Pande after disgracing him publicly. On the
sawe day, Ranajung Pande's two brot hers, along with four other persons,
ware exacuted. Devi Bahadur Kunwar was also executed along with tham,
Kulachandra Shah was banishcd to the hills s, while Krishnaram Mishra was

exiled. The property of those persons, as well as of 4O others who fled,
was confiscated. ‘ ; '

e In November 18L3, Mathbar Singh Thapa hecame Mukhtiyar as well as
Minilster and Commander-In-Chief. In December 1843, Major Lawrence replaced
Brian H. Hodgson as British Resident in Nepal. | Coa .

Contde..
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Queen Rajyalaxmi Devi had appointed Mathbar Singh Thapa as Mukhtiyar
with the hope that he would help her to carry out her plans, Iowever,
Mathbar Singh Thapa spent one whole year in organising the army. He tool
over the command of the regiments under Fatte Jung Shah and otlers. He also
added 5 other regiments to his command. Thereafter, sure of, his strength,
he instigated Surendra Bikram Shah against King Rajendra and Queen Rajya-
laxmi Devi’ to demand administrative powers.

Conflict natwurally ensusd. Surendra Bikram, on the advice of Mathbar
Singh Thapa, proceeded towards the Tarai in December 18LL. Mathbar Singh
Thapa then told King Rajendra that the treaty with the British would be
abrogated if Surendra Bikram crossed the Chure hills. King Rajendra, Quoen
- Rajyalaxmi and Mathbar Singh Thapa then followed Surendra’Bikram and over-
took bhim in Hitaura. At Hitaura, Mathkar Singh Thapa persuaded King Rajendra
" to 31gn a document delagatlng all his powers to Surgndra Bikram.

416 persons who had trled to »revent King Raaendra from relinguishing
“his authority in this manner were executed. Surendra Bikram then came back
to Kathmandu along with King Rajendra and Queen Rajyalaxni,

Mathbar Singh Thapa then became all-powerful, since Surendra Bikram
was not capable of running the administration. He dismlssed, top-ranking
Bhardars such as Fatte Jung Stiah, Ranganath Pandit and Kaji Abhiman Rana
who had been the advisers of King Rajendra. However, Kaji Gagan Singh
Bhandari, who was the advisor of Queen Rajyalaxmi as well as the personal
attendant of Prince Narendra Bikram Shah, was restained, although he was
removed from the position of Kaji. Fatte Jung Shah then left Nepal for

-‘India, and therefore his property was confiscated.

Notwit hstanding these dsvelopments, Queen Rajyalaxmi did not lose hesrt.
“She decided to put an end to-the life of Mathbar Singh Thapa with the support
of King Rajendra. But 'it was not possible to arrest Mathbar Singh Thapa like
Bhimsen Thapa.Accordingly,Qucen Rajyalaxmi hatched a plot to kill Mathbar

Singh Thapa, with the advice of Gagan Singh Bhandari and the active support
oi‘ Jung Bahadur.

. *At 10:00 in the nlght of My 17, 1845, Klng Rajendra summoned Mathbar
Singh Thapa to the royal palace on the pretext that Queen Rajyalaxmi had had
a severe attack of colic. Kaji Kulgman Singh Basnet was scnt to the residence

cf Mathbar Singh Thapa to ask him to hwrry.

.~ Mathbar Singh Thapa accordingly went to the royal palace alone. He
'was shot dead as soon as he entered the royal apartments. One of the
brothers of Jung Bahadur helped his sons and nephews to flee the same night.

Cortd. .
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On May 28, 18L45, King Rajendra and I'rince Swerdra Bikram deleguted
all administrative powers to Queen Rajyalaxmi at a meeting which was attended
by the Rajgurus, Chautariyas, Kajis, Sardars and other Bhardars.

Queen Rajyalaxmi thereupon reinstated Gagan Singh Bhandari as Kaji.
Jung Bahadur was given charge of the Kumarichok (Audit Department), as
well as the Basantapur and Bhandarkhal treasuries, In addition, he was
given the command df 3 military regimentss Gagan Singh Bhandari functionod
as acting minister for L months.

Since King Rajendra had delegated all adm:{nistrative powers to Queen
Rajyalaxmi, the Lal Mohar (Royal Seal) was also handed over t« her. However,
all royal orders ware issued in the name of King Rajendra. As such, the
country was governed under a dual system of administration,

In September 1845, Chautariya Fatte Jung Shah, Gemgral Abhiman Rann
and Kaji Dalabhanjan Pande were taken into the government from King Rajendra's
group, Chautariya Fatte Jung Shah became Prime Minister, while the other
two persons hecame ministers. Queen Rajyalaxmi appointed General Gagan -
Singh Bhandari also as minister. The 3 ministers belonging to King Rajendra's
group were given command of 2 regiments each, while 7 regiments were placed
under Gagan Singh Bhandari, This arrangement continued for a year.

. Jung Bahadur became general in tho beginning of 1846. Meanwhile, Queen
Rajyalaxmi was planning to remove the supporters of King Rajemdra who had
been included in the government, and accomplished her plans with the hedp
of Gagan Singh Bhandari. However, it was not a simple matter to arrest 3
ministers who were commanding 6 regiments. In the meantime, Gagan Sinih
Bhandari was assassinated in the night of September 1k, 18L6. Jung Rahadur
then organized a horrible massacre and finally took over the reins. of
administration from the hands of King Rajendra and Queen Rajyalaxmi. He
thus established the Rana regime which lasted more than a century.

Balchandra Sharma writas:X j

. . On Noveuwber 1, 1810, Ranajung Pands w=s dicmissed from the Prime
Ministerchip, A new Cabinet consisting of Ranganath Poudyal, Rajguru Krishna-
ram, Guru Prasad Shah, Dalabhanjan Pande and Abhiman Rana, with Chautariya
Fatte Jung Shah as Prime Minister, was then formed. King Rajendra was
compened to take this step because of British opposition te the governmmsnt
of Ranajung Pande. However, the dismissal of Ranajung Pande angered the
Senior Queen, Samrajyalaxmi Devi. She left Katilmandu for Bamaras, and King

*Balachandra Sharma, Nepal Ko Aitihasik Ruprekha (Historial Outline Of Nepal),
Banaras: Krishnakumari, 2008 (1351), PP 2+ 5-2008.
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Rajendra followed her. Howsver, the East India Company Governmgnt did ot
permit them to cross the border, on the advise of the British Residunt
in Kathmandu, Brian H. Hodgson. The king and the qusen mstwmned to Kathw:pi.iu
The warm welcome which thay'received in Kathmandu erncouraged Samrajyalaxmi
Devi to make frosh efforts to consolidate her authority. She tricd to
pcrsuade King Ra jendra to abdicate in favor of her wincr seon, Surendra
Bikram Shab. Since tlese effvils proved unsuccossful, Queen Sonesjviluwmi
again lert Kuthwandu for Banaras, and agaln King Rajondre fellowed icr.

But the quoen died'at Hitaura on the way on October 6, 1ELOL

Meaniwhile, the Crown Prince, Surendra Bikram Shtah, had devefloped a
peculiar character. Ho started indulging in cruel and insane dscds. Lven
then, King Rajuvndra made no efforts to control him,

After the death of Queen Sawrajyalaxmi, the Pando faction took Lhe
side of Surendra Bikram Shah and encouragaed his tyrannicual actst

King Rajendra, Crown Prince Surendra Bikram and the Juilor Queun,
Rajyalaxmi Devi, all tricd to exercise administrative authority. Becawe.:
of the contrudictory orders issued by them, thne Bhardars as well as tuc
common people had to suffer wmuch,

On Decewber 6, 1642, a meoting was held under the joint chairmanship
of Chauturiya Fatte Jung Shan and Guru Prasad Shah. 67 porsons,includirg-
top ranking Bhardars, mdlitery officers and repectable citizcns attond.
*ho meoting. The meoting oxpressed regret over the tyrannical acts ot
Crown' Prince Surendra Bikram as well as the manner in which the adwinisti-t
tion.had dviurioratud. It then Tormed a commitive to draw up 2 petition to
be submitted to King Rajundra. The petition described the hardships of
Bhardars and the comnon psople &nd demanded that imwmadiate action shoulid
be taken to remove them,

- On Deceubar 7, 1842, a maseive procession reachod the Hamumardbol:
pzlace with the petition inscribed on a gold plate. High-ranking civil
and military officials, as well as the common puwople, took part in the
procession. King Rajendra recuived the petition, He wanted to share tho
administrative authority between him and Crown Prince Surcndra Bikram thab.

But influential people wanted that all powers should be vested in Quecn fix)f
laxmi.

King Rajcridra .Bikram Shah was evontuilly compelled to accopt the
demand of ths majority.

Contd,..
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On January 5, 1843, hc issusd the following proclamation:-*

"Hencoforth, the people shall comply with the orders of Queen Rajya-
laxmi Devi, I have conferred on her tpa following powers voluntarily:-

(1) To issue orders for imprisomment, mutilation, exile, capital
- punishmont and dismissal of any person other than meubers of the
royal family,

- (2) To appéint;and dismiss government employees, and to effect chanires
in their titles. and posts, ‘ v -

(3) To maintain diplomatic rclations with China, Tibot and Britain,
and

(L) To wage war and negotiate treaties as necossary with these toreirn
powers, -

I sclemly vow that I too. shall do nothing without the consent of
Queen Rajyalaxmi Devi, The common,people are herery directed not to cowmpl,
with the orders of the Crown Prince, In case anybody does so, he shall be
pwished by the Queen."

Docunents

Conferment of Administrative Autbority'ﬂn Crown Princu Surcndra.
4+ From King Rajendra®

We hereby bostow the titloe of Maharajadhiraj on our son, Surendra

Bir Bikram Shah. Whils retaining my thronz and the royal authority, I shult
7zivc commands to Maharajadhiraj Surendra Bir Bikram Shah, who in turn shall
issus commands to tha Mukhtiyar and Bhardars and conduct the affairs of

the administration..I shall rctain the dignity and prestige of the throns
and the royal authority that have come down from our anccstors. Mahar:ju-
dhiraj Surendra Bir Bikram ‘Shzah shall exercise the administrative authority
and all such authority as has bcen exercised so far by me. Hu shall also
exerciss my royal authority after duly submitting a represuntation to s,

- while exercising his own authority over the Mukhtiyar and Bhardars. He snull

conduct the affairs of the administration in this manncr,

Marga Sudi 1, 1901 (November 18LL)

A Y

Regmi Research Collections, Vol, 1, PP. 808-809.

Contd. o 1



.22,

From Minister And Cogmander-In-Chicf Gen:ral Mathbar Singh Thapa Bahadur,?
. B. To Captain Yuddhadal Shah and Officers of the Shri Chandra Nath Company

I' Greetings.

We have refceived your previous let.ter A1l is well herel Wo want, th.
semo therd'. The news bare is good., Shri 5 Maharajadhira)j Sirendra Bir*
Bikram Shahk sald that Bekh Birta lands granted by His Majosty to all othlir
had beun confirmed, but'*the lands granted to: him had not been confirmed.

He therefore said hu would go to Kashi. Accordingly, hc procccded to Dhupt
wabas., :

His Majesty thon said that Surendra Bir Bikram Shah did not ¢o awuy
in this way. Ho pointeld out that previously also he had bestouod on Surenc
Bir Bikram Shah the authority of Maharajadhiraj, and that now also he woul
bestow his authcrity on Surendra Bir Bikram Shah so as to bo exercissd in
consultation with him, while oxercising his own authority over the Mukhti)
and Bhardars. His Majesty then issued a royal order to this etfect in the
name of Shri.5 Maoharajadhiraj Surcndra Bir Bikram Shah,'

kecording to this royal order, all the 5,200,000 peonle of the kingde
along with Bhardars, signed a pledge of loyalty and subwitted it to Shri ¢
Maharajadhiraj Surcndra/Bir Bikram Shah, I am sending herewith a copy of
this royal ordar, as well as the pledge sign=d by us',
o

" A salute of 51 guns wera fired here to celebrate this conferment of
authority on Shri § Maharajdhiraj Surendra Bir Bikram Shah Dev, who has
ordered that a salute of 21 guns should be fired theret.

Have all Jagirdars, ccmmon people and governmentMomployecs, as well !
.officers up to the rarnk of Hudda, in the company, and Duarss, Tharis and
respectable people belonging to differcnt areas, write down their names
and affix their seal or signaturc on'a document prepared according tu tho.
copy gf the pledge mentioned above, and send ths documents here soon.

Marga Sudi 15, 1901 -
(Docember 1844)

*Ipid, PP. 806-807.
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C. From His Majesty King Surendrd

To Gurus , Purohits, Chaut.arlyas, Kajis, Bhardars, Mihtary officials and
the 5,200 000. people.

On Kartik Sudi 8, 1899 (November 1842), when Chautariya Fatte Jung
Shah was Mukhtiyar, owr father granted a royal order bestowing on us the
title of Shri 5 Maharajadhiraj, as well as authority to issue coing weights
and measures in owr name. z

Later, on:Marga Badi 1, 1901 (November 18l4)), when General Mathbar
Singh Thapa was Mukhtiyar, we beheaded 16 persons and issued notices to
all that ouwr authority had been established. An this day, our fathor had
granted the title of Shri S Maharajdhiraj in ' our name through a royal
order, and thus our audthority had been established.

In 1903 (1846) , when our father left for Kashi, he granted a royal
order to the effect that the entire administration should ba conducted
under our authority.

Now our father'!s name shall be retained in letturs sent to China and
the British, in the throne, in’ coins, weights and measures,.and in admi-
nistrative affairs conducted according to the orders of Prime Minister and
Commander-In-Chief General Jung Bahadur Kunwar under our authority.

In case any qrder is issued by our father or ourselves on unjustiried
grounds sentencing the Prime Minister and Vazir and any meuber of the
'Kunwar family to death, disgrace, or confiscation of property, it shall
not be complied with unless they have acted against our person, our ihrons,
or our treasury.

If we is=us an order sentencing them to death; disgrace or confisca-
tion of property on unjustified grounds, and if amy person harms their
interests out of enmity, we shall sentence him to capital punishment, or
deprive him of his caste, according to his caste status.

Baisakh Sudi 1, 1904
(May 1847)

¥ Naya Raa Pant, "Prithvi Narayan Shah Ko Sainik Prabandha Ra Unko Rajniti.
(Military Organization and Politics of Prithvi Narayan Shah). Simhanad,
Year 1, No. 5, Asadh-Shrawan 2020 (June-July, 1963), 17-23 PP.
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Appointment Of Mathbar Singh Thapa as Prime Minister™
From King Rajendr"a .

To Mathbar Singh Thapa' Bahadwr, son of Nain Singh Thapa,grandson of Ambar
Singh Thapa, res:v.dent of Gorkha.

We herevy appoint you as Mukhtiyar of all.civil and a-dnﬁnistrativo
affairs throughout owr country, as well as Prime Ministcer, Couwmander-Ii-
Chief and General with Jagir emoluments amounting to s 12,401. Remain in
attendance during war and other occasions as commanded by us, be faithful
to our salt and utilize the followznp lands and revenuss as your'Jagir
with due loyalty.

(Particulars of lands and revenues follow).

Aswin Badi 7, 1901
(September 18)4)4)

Appointment Of Jung Bahadur as Kag‘ixx

: From King Rajendra,

To Jung Bahadur Kunwar, son of Balanarsingh! and grandson of Ramakrishna
Kutrwar,m resident of Kathmandu. ’

We hereby grant you the office of Kaji, with 1,160 muris of Khet
lands and Rs 3,500.00 as your Jagir emoluments’" Remin in attendunca duriln
war and on other occasions as commanded by us and bs faithful to owr salt.
Utilize thie following lands and revenues as your Jagir,

I(Particulars of lands and revenues follow).

Poush Sudi k,. 1902
. (January 18L46)

“Regmi Research Collections, Vol. 26, P. 23.

XRegmi Research Collections, Vol. 26, PP.,Ll-)2. Juﬁg Bahadur had been

KaJi previously also, but had been replaced by Karnabir Parde on Chaitra
1900 Vilrama. (Regmi Research Collections, Vol. 33, FP. S5L4-57e.

™ Xrhis 1s a mistake, for Jung Bshadur was the grandson of Ranajit Kunwar, 2

son of Rapakrishna Kunwar.

Contd...
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L. Appointment of Jung Bahadur as Prime l_{in_ist_ex_'x
From King Rajendra,

To Shri®* Jung Bahadur Kunwar, son of Balanarsimgh and grandson of Ranajit
Kunwar, resident of Kathmandu,

We hereby appoint you as Mukhtiyar of all civil and administrative
affairs throughout our country, 8s well as Prime Minister, Commainder-In-
Chief and General with Jagir emoluments améunting to Rs 12,401, Remain in
attendance during war and othar occasions &s commanded by us, be faithful
to our salt and utilize the following lands and revenuss as your Jagir
with due loyalty. ' :

(Particulars of lands and revenues follow).

Marga Badi 1@, 1903
(November 18L6)

*Regmi Reséarch Collections, Vol. 26, PP. 142-163.

¥The honorific term "Shri" was ndt used in the letter conferming Jung
Bahadur!s appointment as Kajit

AR

(S.B.M.)
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